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Charge of Discrimination 

Mr. E’lon Brown, (“Mr. Brown”), is a Muslim man who has a sincerely-held religious belief 

that he must pray five times a day. These prayers occur at (1) dawn, (2) around noon, (3) in the 

afternoon, (4) after sunset, and (5) in the evening. The prayers last approximately five or ten 

minutes. Mr. Brown also has a sincerely-held religious belief that he must attend congregational 

prayers known as jumu’ah. Jumu’ah takes place each Friday around noon and lasts for approximately 

one hour.  

Automatic Distributors Corporation (“Automatic Distributors” or “Employer”) and 

StaffMax LLC (“StaffMax” or “Staffing Agency”) discriminated against Mr. Brown on the basis of 

his religion by denying his religious accommodation requests to take brief prayer breaks and attend 

jumu’ah prayer.  Even worse, Automatic Distributors and StaffMax retaliated against Mr. Brown for 

requesting those religious accommodations by terminating his employment.   

StaffMax LLC hired Mr. Brown and placed him in a Packer role at Automatic Distributors 

(“Contractor”) on December 17, 2019 at its Indianapolis location. As a packer, along with other 

employees, Mr. Brown would receive an order, pack, tape, place shipping labels on the order, and 

place it on a conveyor belt. Mr. Brown and the other employees took turns on the conveyor line.  

Mr. Brown was a model employee. He was on time for shifts, completed his work without 

issue, and had good relationships with supervisors and co-workers. For the entirety of his 

employment, Mr. Brown never received any type of disciplinary action.  

On December 18, Mr. Brown requested a religious accommodation through StaffMax via 

email: “[M]y religion requires me to perform prayer at certain times of the day and I need certain 

accommodations.” Mr. Brown explained that he has a sincerely-held religious belief that requires 

him to perform prayers at certain times and to attend Friday congregational prayers or jum’uah. Mr. 

Brown requested a clean private area to perform prayer during his breaks. Mr. Brown also requested 

a religious accommodation allowing him to attend jum’uah on Friday from 1:50-2:30 pm. Mr. 

Brown’s mosque was just five minutes down the road from his job site. He offered to shift his 

breaks so that he did not pose a burden. Mr. Brown asked that StaffMax contact him, “so that we 

can make arrangements that work best for all parties involved.” 

Mr. Brown also requested a reasonable religious accommodation for his Islamic beliefs 

through StaffMax via text message. StaffMax responded by asking him to speak with his supervisor 

and also informed him that it would notify his supervisor as well. StaffMax also stated, “This is 

something that should have been communicated to us prior to starting working.”  



 5 

Mr. Brown complied with StaffMax’s request and spoke with Automatic Distributors 

Supervisors Michael Bell (“Supervisor Michael”) and Eric (“Supervisor Eric”) about 

accommodations for his Islamic beliefs. Although both confirmed they received his request via an e-

mail from StaffMax, they brushed off Mr. Brown’s request.  

Approximately one week later, Mr. Brown again followed up with Supervisor Michael and 

Supervisor Eric about his request for religious accommodation. Supervisor Michael pulled Mr. 

Brown aside and denied his request for religious accommodation, stating that they could not 

accommodate him because if they did, they would have to accommodate everyone else, which they 

could not do. Supervisor Eric nodded his head in agreement. On December 26, Mr. Brown received 

a text message from StaffMax terminating his employment with Automatic Distributors, “Good 

evening I regret to inform you that your assignment has been ended.” 

Mr. Brown called StaffMax to ask why Automatic Distributors and StaffMax terminated his 

assignment. He spoke with a male employee responsible for new hires. The employee confirmed 

that his assignment had been terminated because of his religious needs and accommodations.  

 

A. Automatic Distributors and StaffMax discriminated against Mr. Brown by denying 

his requests for religious accommodation, requests they could have accommodated, 

but decided not to.  

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VII) prohibits discrimination based on an 

individual’s religion, and also requires employers to furnish reasonable accommodations for an 

individual’s religious practices or beliefs unless the accommodation imposes an undue hardship on 

the employer’s business operations.  

A reasonable accommodation is an accommodation that eliminates the conflict between the 

employment requirements and the individual’s religious beliefs. Ansonia Board of Education v. Philbrook, 

479 U.S. 60 (1986). The employer violates the statute unless it “demonstrates that [it] is unable to 

reasonably accommodate . . . an employee’s . . . religious observance or practice without undue 

hardship on the conduct of the employer’s business.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j). An accommodation 

poses an undue hardship if it requires an employer to incur more than a de minimis cost. Trans World 

Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 97 S. Ct. 2264, 53 L. Ed. 2d 113, 14 Fair Empl. Prac. Cas. 

(BNA) 1697, 14 Empl. Prac. Dec. (CCH) P 7620 (1977)  

 Here, Automatic Distributors and StaffMax made no effort to accommodate Mr. Brown’s 

sincerely-held religious beliefs, nor did it provide an explanation as to why the accommodations 
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would pose an undue hardship. The only explanation Automatic Distributors provided was that they 

could not accommodate Mr. Brown, because they would then have to accommodate all employees 

who request reasonable accommodations. Even if Automatic Distributors and StaffMax asserted 

that Mr. Brown’s requests did pose undue hardship, no Court would agree. Brief prayer breaks 

would not have posed any hardship to Mr. Brown’s employers. Apart from jum’uah prayer, prayer 

breaks are brief in duration, lasting between 5 and 10 minutes, and are similar to bathroom breaks. 

Mr. Brown receives two 15-minute breaks and one 30-minute break during a given shift. He offered 

to pray during his breaks so as not to pose burden to his employer.  

 Mr. Brown’s request for a clean private area to pray does not pose undue hardship. The only 

explanation Automatic Distributors provided was that they could not accommodate Mr. Brown, 

because they would then have to accommodate all employees who request reasonable 

accommodations. Even if Automatic Distributors and StaffMax asserted that Mr. Brown’s request 

did pose undue hardship, no Court would agree. Automatic Distributors could have provided Mr. 

Brown with the use of any room for prayer.  

Mr. Brown’s reasonable request for accommodation to attend jum’uah would not have posed 

any hardship to his employers. Mr. Brown’s mosque is very close in proximity to his jobsite. The 

mosque is approximately 2-2.5 miles down the road from his employer and only five minutes away 

by car. Automatic Distributors provides employees with two 15-minute breaks and one 30-minute 

breaks each shift. Mr. Brown offered to shift his breaks so he could attend jum’uah prayer on Fridays.  

In fact, Automatic Distributors permits employees to leave the jobsite for lunch.  

Automatic Distributors’ and StaffMax’s denial of Mr. Brown’s requests for accommodation to 

attend jum’uah and to take brief prayer breaks violated Title VII.    

 

B. Automatic Distributors and StaffMax further discriminated against Mr. Brown by 

terminating his employment because of his religion 

In E.E.O.C. v. Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc., 575 U.S. 768 (U.S.,2015)., the Supreme Court held 

that, “a job applicant seeking to prove a Title VII disparate treatment claim need only show that his 

need for an accommodation was a motivating factor in the employer’s decision, and need not show 

that the employer actually knew that the applicant’s practice was a religious practice that required an 

accommodation.” Furthermore, Title VII’s definition of religion clearly indicates that failure-to-

accommodate challenges can be brought as disparate-treatment claims. Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, 
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135 S.Ct. at 2030. Title VII gives favored treatment to religious practices, rather than demanding 

religious practices be treated no worse than other practices. Id.  

Here, Title VII’s disparate treatment provision requires Mr. Brown to show that Automatic 

Distributors and StaffMax (1) terminated his employment (2) because of (3) his religion (or religious 

practice. The “because of” standard is understood to mean that the protected characteristic cannot 

be a “motivating factor” in an employment decision. Id.  

 Automatic Distributors and StaffMax terminated Mr. Brown’s employment because of his 

Muslim faith and because he requested reasonable Islamic accommodations in connection with his 

sincerely-held Islamic beliefs that requires him to pray five times a day and attend congregational 

prayers on Fridays. StaffMax confirmed to Mr. Brown that he had been terminated because of his 

requests for reasonable Islamic accommodations. Even if Automatic Distributors and StaffMax 

denied this fact, a Court would still find that a causal connection exists. 

In Clark County School Dist. v. Breeden, 532 U.S. 268 (2001), the Supreme Court held that very 

close temporal proximity alone could be sufficient evidence for a prima facie causal connection. Mr. 

Brown made his initial request for reasonable religious accommodation via e-mail on December 18. 

Mr. Brown again requested a reasonable religious accommodation via text message to StaffMax on 

December 19. Approximately one week later, supervisors denied Mr. Brown’s reasonable religious 

accommodation requests. On December 26, approximately one week since Mr. Brown initially 

requested reasonable religious accommodations, StaffMax notified Mr. Brown that his employment 

had been terminated.  

Mr. Brown was a model employee. He had never been disciplined for the duration of his 

employment. Automatic Distributors continued to increase the number of employees at the jobsite. 

There was no legitimate reason for Automatic Distributors and StaffMax to terminate Mr. Brown’s 

employment. 

StaffMax confirmed to Mr. Brown that he had been terminated because of his religious 

needs and requests for reasonable religious accommodation. 

 

C. Automatic Distributors and StaffMax retaliated against Mr. Brown when they 

terminated his employment because he requested a reasonable Islamic 

accommodation. 

 To establish a prima facie case of retaliation in violation of section 704(a) of Title VII, a 

plaintiff must show that: (1) he or she engaged in activity protected under the statute; (2) the 
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employer took an adverse employment action against the employee that a reasonable employee 

would consider materially adverse; and (3) a causal connection existed between the employee’s 

protected activity and the employer’s adverse employment action. 

 Mr. Brown, a Muslim man who requested from his employer reasonable Islamic 

accommodations, was terminated from his employment following and due to his religious 

accommodation request.  

 StaffMax confirmed to Mr. Brown that he had been terminated because of his requests for 

reasonable religious accommodations. Even if Automatic Distributors and StaffMax denied this fact, 

a Court would find that a causal connection exists. 

The Supreme Court has held that very close temporal proximity alone could be sufficient 

evidence for a prima facie causal connection. Breeden, 532 U.S. 268.  Mr. Brown made his initial 

request for reasonable religious accommodation via e-mail on December 18. He again requested a 

reasonable religious accommodation via text message to StaffMax on December 19. Approximately 

one week later, supervisors denied Mr. Brown’s reasonable religious accommodation requests. On 

December 26, approximately one week since Mr. Brown initially requested reasonable religious 

accommodations, StaffMax notified Mr. Brown that his employment had been terminated. The close 

proximity in time between Mr. Brown’s request for reasonable religious accommodation and 

termination creates an inference of causal connection between Mr. Brown’s reasonable religious 

accommodation requests and his termination.   

 Further, the Supreme Court has held that a Plaintiff must prove that the employer knew 

about the protected activity. Automatic Distributors and StaffMax had knowledge that Mr. Brown 

had engaged in protected activity by requesting reasonable religious accommodations. Breeden, 532 

U.S. 268. Mr. Brown made very clear to both Automatic Distributors and StaffMax that he was a 

Muslim who required reasonable accommodations for his Islamic beliefs. He requested 

accommodations via text message, email, and followed up with supervisors in-person to request 

accommodations and to obtain an update regarding his request.  

Therefore, the burden shifts to the employer to articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory 

reason for Mr. Brown’s termination. 463 F.2d, at 343. McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 

1824, 411 U.S. 792, 802–03 (U.S.Mo. 19 73).  

StaffMax and Automatic Distributors cannot provide a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason 

for Mr. Brown’s termination.  Mr. Brown was a model employee. He had never been disciplined. 

During Mr. Brown’s employment, Automatic Distributors continued to increase the number of 
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employees at the jobsite. There was no legitimate reason for Automatic Distributors and StaffMax to 

terminate Mr. Brown’s employment. On the other hand, StaffMax confirmed that Mr. Brown had 

been terminated because of his religious needs and requests for reasonable religious 

accommodation. 

 

I. Conclusion 

Automatic Distributors and StaffMax discriminated and retaliated against Mr. Brown, in 

violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended.   

 
 




